A. INTRODUCTION 

Stacia Hartleben was a student at the University of Washington 

("University") in its Masters program in Computational Linguistics ("the 

Program") when she requested certain accommodations for her 

disabilities. Ms. Hartleben has long struggled with depression and anxiety, 

and she became so ill during her work on her Master's program, her 

physician recommended electroconvulsive therapy ("ECT"). In 

November, 2011 took a leave of absence from the Program and underwent 

ECT therapy to treat her depression. At that point she had successfully 

completed five courses in the Program. 

Retrograde amnesia or memory loss is a side effect of ECT 

therapy. And, following the ECT therapy Ms. Hartleben came to realize 

she had no memory for a period of years preceding the therapy. Even now 

she has only fleeting memories triggered, for example, by seeing someone 

she once knew or if she is in a place where she worked or studied during 

that time. Unfortunately, she has no memory of the content of the five 

classes she completed in the Program. She very much wants to complete 

the Program, however. Ms. Hartleben has been interested in 

Computational Linguistics since she was a teen. Despite her depression 

and anxiety she graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in linguistics from 
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Macalester College. She also worked in software development for a 

number of companies while pursuing her Master's degree in the Program. 

Her career goal was and continues to be software developer with a focus 

in natural language processing. 

In the spring, 2013 Ms. Hartleben felt ready to return to the 

Program. Before she can continue, however, she needs to relearn the 

content of the five courses she completed. Four of the courses are 

required to complete the degree; the other course builds on one of the 

required courses. Because of her disability, retrograde amnesia or memory 

loss, she will be at a disadvantage compared to other students in the 

Program if she cannot relearn the content of these courses. It is doubtful 

Ms. Hartleben can complete the Program without the knowledge from 

those courses that she has lost because of retrograde amnesia. 

Ms. Hartleben requested as a disability accommodation that the 

University allow her to attend the five courses without paying additional 

tuition. Her parents paid for the tuition for these courses when she took 

them initially. She did not receive any financial assistance from the 

University. She does not want additional college credit or a different 

grade. But because of her depression and anxiety, she has issues with 

focus and retention; she can only really learn when there is interaction 

with others and feedback. She thus proposes to relearn the content of the 
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classes by attending lectures and study groups, completing homework, and 

taking the tests. 

The authority to determine and approve reasonable 

accommodations rests exclusively with the University's Office of 

Disability Resources Services (DRS). The DRS dismissed Ms. Hartleben's 

request virtually out of hand. Instead, she was treated as if she wanted 

"free classes" and told to make her request to the Graduate School. The 

Associate Dean of the Graduate School, Rebecca Aaenerud, indicated the 

Graduate School could implement this request but said DRS must approve 

it and sent Ms. Hartleben back to DRS. 

In refusing to approve the request, DRS deferred to the Registrar's 

Office and Student Fiscal Services that indicated there was no 

circumstance in which students did not pay tuition. DRS did not engage in 

any meaningful investigation or interaction about the impact of Ms. 

Hartleben's retrograde amnesia or memory loss on her ability to complete 

her degree and the disadvantage she would have without relearning the 

content of those classes. DRS also did not engage in an interaction or 

investigation to determine ifthere was an effective means to relearn the 

content of the five courses without having to pay additional tuition. In fact, 

the DRS coordinator assigned to handle Ms. Hartleben's request 
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encouraged her to believe memory loss or retrograde amnesia is not a 

disability. 

DRS told Ms. Hartleben that she could retake the classes or audit 

them upon payment of tuition. Any student, however, can retake classes or 

audit them upon payment of tuition. DRS also said the University would 

consider allowing her to attend part time and take longer to complete her 

degree. But like most students in the Program, she had previously attended 

classes on a part time basis. DRS did not consider, let alone offer, any 

accommodations for her retrograde amnesia or memory loss. The DRS 

coordinator was dismissive towards Ms. Hartleben, showing a prejudice 

against those who struggle with depression and anxiety. 

Ms. Hartleben then filed a complaint with the University's 

Complaint Investigation and Resolution Office ("UCIRO") in the hope the 

University would reconsider the denial of her disability accommodations 

request. Months later, as Ms. Hartleben was leaving a meeting in which 

she was told the denial would be upheld, the UCIRO investigator said she 

could listen to recordings of the classes she no longer remembers. The 

offer was "take it or leave it"; the investigator said there would be no more 

discussion. The investigator would not listen when Ms. Hartleben tried to 

tell her she could not learn effectively without interaction and feedback. 

The University refused even to discuss how Ms. Hartleben might be 
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provided interaction and feedback in relying primarily on the recordings to 

relearn the content of the courses. Ms. Hartleben went to the link to the 

recordings and confirmed she will not be able to relearn the content of 

these classes in this way. 

The University has claimed no hardship or undue burden in 

denying Ms. Hartleben' s request for a disability accommodation. The 

University has said only that Ms. Hartleben has access to the classes upon 

payment of tuition again. For the first time in its Motion for Summary 

Judgment, the University claimed it is not required to waive tuition as a 

reasonable accommodation. The University offers no basis for such a 

limitation. In fact, the refusal even to consider the disability 

accommodation requested by Ms. Hartleben means she will be forced to 

pay twice for these classes, something not required of students who do not 

suffer from retrograde amnesia. Her disability prevents her from knowing 

the content of the classes for which she has already paid tuition. Without 

knowing that content, she will be at a severe disadvantage in trying to 

complete her degree. The University will not even consider 

accommodations to assist Ms. Hartleben in relying on the recordings of 

classes to relearn their content. 

The University also asserted for the first time in its Motion that 

waiving tuition in this case would constitute a "fundamental alteration of 
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its operations". But the University has offered no proof of this claim. In 

fact, no one from the University even said in a statement or declaration 

that the waiver of tuition requested in this case would fundamentally alter 

its operations, let alone why or how. The claim without more was simply 

asserted in the Motion. 

Ms. Hartleben does not seek additional college credit or a new 

grade that are the primary benefits of paying tuition. Instead, because of 

her disability, she seeks only to relearn the content of those classes 

through classroom participation, in order that she can complete her 

Master's degree. Her request presents no hardship to the University. A 

jury should be able to determine the reasonableness of this requested 

accommodation. 

There is sufficient evidence as well to allow a jury to decide 

whether the University failed to engage as required in the interactive 

process to determine reasonable accommodations. A jury should also be 

able to decide whether the University failed to provide reasonable 

accommodations otherwise to Ms. Hartleben. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Assignments of Error 
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1. The trial court erred in entering summary judgment against Ms. 

Hartleben and in favor of the University on Ms. Hartleben's claim for failure 

to accommodate her disabilities. 

2. The trial court erred in entering summary judgment against Ms. 

Hartleben and in favor of the University on Ms. Hartleben's claim that the 

University failed to engage in the interactive process to determine reasonable 

accommodations. 

B. Issues Relating to Assignments of Error 

1. Ifthere is evidence that a university student cannot fully enjoy 

meaningful access to her Master's Program because of her disability and 

requests a disability accommodation that is denied, and there is no 

hardship or undue burden in providing the accommodation, should a jury 

be able to decide the reasonableness of the requested accommodation? 

2. If there is evidence that because of her disability of retrograde 

amnesia, a university student will be required to pay twice to learn the 

content of classes required to complete her degree, should a jury be able to 

decide if there has been a violation of the Washington Law Against 

Discrimination, RCW 49.60, et seq. ("WLAD")? 

3. Should a jury be able to determine the reasonableness of a request 

for disability accommodation by a university student to attend classes she 

already completed simply to relearn the content of the classes erased from 
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her memory but with no additional college credit or different grade, when 

there has been no claim of hardship or undue burden and there is evidence 

from the dean of her graduate school and director of her classes that the 

request could be implemented? 

4. Should a jury be able to determine that a university failed to 

engage in good faith in the interactive process to determine reasonable 

disability accommodations for a student requesting to relearn the content 

of classes she already took and paid for, but because of the disability, she 

can not recall, when there is evidence the university (1) was dismissive of 

the disability accommodations request as one for "free classes" and DRS 

sent her to another department, the Graduate School, for the 

accommodation when it is clearly DRS' responsibility to approve 

reasonable accommodations, (2) made discriminatory comments about 

persons with the student's disabilities of depression and anxiety, (3) 

refused to consider the disability accommodations request or alternatives 

that would address the student's disabilities, and (4) offered months after 

the request was denied, a "take it or leave it" offer to let her listen to 

recordings of the classes but said there would be no more discussion and 

refused to discuss any options that would make the recordings a feasible 

alternative to accommodate her disabilities? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

From the fall, 2008 until November, 2011, Ms. Hartleben attended 

classes in the Computational Linguistics Master's Program on a part time basis. 

CP 155, 166, 490:20-25, 491:1-7, 499:5-25, 500:1-9 Dr. Emily Bender, director 

of the Program, explained any student in the program may attend part time and 

so take longer to complete the degree. CP 270:5-12, 271 :5-25, 272: 1-16, 278: 15-

21 In fact, most students in the program attend on a part time basis. CP 274:20-

23, 275:1-3 

In addition to attending classes in the Program, Ms. Hartleben also 

worked in software development for a number of companies. CP 495:6-25, 

499:11-14; 545:18-25, 546-550:5, 551:13-552:8 She was interested in 

computational linguistics even as a teen and planned to make it her career. CP 

154-155 iJ2, 164, 275:25-277:14; 543:23-25, 544: 1-4. She had previously 

obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in linguistics from Macalester College. CP 

490:20-25, 491:1-7, 500:4-9 Ms. Hartleben's career goal was and continues to 

be software developer with a focus in natural language processing. CP 543 :23-

25, 544:1-4; CP 275:25-276:18 

Ms. Hartleben's parents paid the tuition for her classes in the master's 

program. CP 186-187. She did not receive any financial assistance from the 

University. CP 501:4-6 

Ms. Hartleben worked towards her career goal, completing five courses 

in the Program, despite her struggle with depression and anxiety. CP 155 iJ5, 

166, 501: 11-22, 553:7-11 Her depression was at times severe enough, that she 

Brief of Appellant 9 



was forced to take hardship withdrawals or withdraw from some of her classes 

for hospitalizations and other treatment. CP 166, 503: 13-505: 1-6 

Since undergoing ECT therapy in December, 2011 to treat her 

depression, Ms. Hartleben has suffered from a side effect, retrograde amnesia or 

memory loss. CP 155 ~3, 351-352, 491:15-25, 492:1-14, 506:24-25, 507:1-5 She 

has virtually no memory for a period of years preceding the ECT therapy. CP 

491:15-25, 492:1-14, 493:16-25, 494:1-4, 508:14-25, 509:1-17, 537:1-9 Any 

memories she does have come as "little flashes", "a picture .... with no context". 

CP 494:11-496:23, 497:2-24 Ms. Hartleben does not remember the content of 

the classes she completed before the ECT therapy. CP 155 ~3, 498:2-15 

She described the impact of her memory loss or retrograde amnesia in 

emails to Dr. Bender: "This situation is "very" sensitive for me. I lost all my 

job skills, most of the past 4 years ... are a complete blank. I didn't remember my 

former coworkers, and I barely remembered the person I lived with. I haven't 

been able to work due to this and I'm just trying to figure out my options going 

forward in life." CP 66 

Four of the courses Ms. Hartleben had completed previously are 

required; the other course builds on one of the required courses. CP 272:18-25, 

273:1-21 Without the knowledge from those courses that is now erased from her 

memory, she has no choice but to participate again in, or in some way relearn 

the content of, those classes. CP 155 ~~3-5 Otherwise, as she expressed to Dr. 

Bender, she doubts that she can complete her degree, to wit: "/also have lost my 

work skills and have been struggling to support myself in the mean time, so 

paying for tuition would not be an option for me ... and if I were somehow ... able 
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to take the other classes without any background, it would be dishonest to get a 

degree in something that I had no qualifications for half of It's been very hard 

for me to step back into programming ........ I don't know what I was like as a 

student at UW, but I know that in undergraduate school I was extremely 

motivated. I have an entrance letter to Macalester stating my intent to go into 

computational linguistics (at 17 years old) .... I don't know anything about the 

scholarship process, nor can I provide much Background for my qualifications 

at the moment. But do you think there is someone who would be wiling to listen 

to my story, and possibly let me restart the program again, and if not with a full 

scholarship, somehow be able to retake my previous courses without re-paying 

the fee? !feel like someone at the University would have to listen to this story." 

CP 62, 64 

Dr. Bender responded that Ms. Hartleben was "indeed a very motivated 

student in the ... classes". Id. She suggested Ms. Hartleben contact the DRS for 

reasonable accommodations and also the student health clinic. CP 156 iJ6, 

510: 10-19 Joyce Parvi, a Program employee, suggested she could "petition" the 

Graduate School. CP 156 iJ6 

Ms. Hartleben was hesitant to seek a disability accommodation because 

she was worried, 

"if this starts ballooning out of control with too many 
departments not knowing what to do and referring me in a 
circle, I'll probably just have to quit the program. It's 
painful enough as is, and I don't want this to get to the 
point where I feel as if I'm on trial." CP 68 

Ms. Hartleben did meet on March 4, 2013 with Terri Dobrich, a DRS 
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counseling services coordinator. CP 156-157 'i!'i\7, 11; 238:5-12, 239:2-8 Ms. 

Hartleben sought an accommodation that would allow her to attend the five 

classes she had already completed and paid for previously without having to pay 

twice; she did not want college credit or a different grade, but she did want to be 

able to participate fully in the classes and obtain feedback by doing homework 

assignments and taking tests. As Ms. Hartleben describes, "/explained the 

severe disadvantage I would have in the program and compared to other 

students if I did not retake the classes." CP 157'i!l1, 511 :6-11, 20-512: 13; 

516:6-13 

At the time of this March 4, 2013 meeting Ms. Hartleben was under the 

misapprehension that memory loss is not a disability under the law. She 

certainly always considered her memory loss as a disability, however. CP 157 

'i!l l, 518:16-519:5, 520:8-15 She questioned Dobrich about whether retrograde 

amnesia or memory loss is a disability under the law because she believed it was 

not. CP 157'i!l1 Dobrich told her that memory loss is not a disability. CP 157-

158 'i!'i!l l, 13, 518:5-15 Dobrich's own notes indicate that she wanted Ms. 

Hartleben to think memory loss is not a disability. Dobrich writes, "I explained 

that it is correct to say that memory [loss] is not a disability". CP 252: 17-24, 

253:3-10, 354 Also, Dobrich later told Kate Leonard, the UCIRO investigator, 

"[m}emory loss is not a disability." CP 337:10-25, 338:1-2 

Despite her emphatic denials to Ms. Hartleben and UCIRO that memory 

loss is a disability, Dobrich could not state in her deposition whether memory 

loss is a disability under state law. CP 244: 12-14, 17-19, 23-25; 245: 1-3, 5-6, 

13-15, 17-18; 246: 7-13, 15-20, 23-24 Bree Callahan, DRS Director, 
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acknowledged that regardless, the function of DRS is accommodating the 

impacts that symptoms of a disability have on a student. CP 289:4: 5-12, 25; 

290:1-2, 291:20-22, 296:18-23, 297:10-25, 298: 1-17 In Ms. Hartleben's case, 

Dobrich and Callahan agreed that memory loss is a symptom or impact of the 

disability of depression. CP 244:2-4, 7-8; 296: 18-23, 297: 10-298: 17 Dobrich 

never explained to Ms. Hartleben that DRS is supposed to provide reasonable 

accommodations for impacts of her memory loss but instead simply encouraged 

her to think memory loss is not a disability. CP 160 iJ14 

Also, during the March 4, 2013 meeting Dobrich characterized Ms. 

Hartleben as seeking "free classes". She said "if the university gave you free 

classes, they would have to do it for everyone". Dobrich also told Ms. Hartleben 

that the Graduate School would make the decision about whether she could have 

''free classes"; Dobrich told her to "petition" the Graduate School. CP 156-158 

iJiJ7,ll, 521:16-22, 522:3-12 

In fact, Callahan and Dobrich knew that it is DRS, not the Graduate 

School, that has the exclusive authority to make the determination about whether 

the University will offer a disability accommodation. DRS is not even required 

to obtain approval for costs expended in providing reasonable accommodations. 

CP 240:10-19, 241:3-5, 7-14, 242:3-6; CP 292:22-23, 293:1-8, 294:15-20, 

316:6-18 

Despite the negative tone of her meeting with Dobrich, Ms. Hartleben 

was encouraged. She believed it had been established that the Graduate School 

is the proper department for her request. She described to Dr. Bender, she had 

"made some progress" that day. CP 173 
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That same day Ms. Hartleben wrote Dean Rebecca Aanerud at the 

Graduate School about her request for an accommodation for memory loss. The 

dean, however, sent her back to DRS, saying, "whatever they determine to be 

reasonable accommodation is what the department will do. " CP 156~8, 168-170 

Dean Aaenerud wrote Callahan on March 4, 2013, "If you decide that 

this is a reasonable accommodation, we are able to make this work. But, as you 

know the accommodation must be initiated from your office." CP 357 

Ms. Hartleben felt she had "hit a ... wall". Each department was pointing 

her to the other in her quest for a reasonable accommodation. CP 156-157~9, 

173 

Callahan responded to Dean Aanerud the next day, "I am not sure 

what/if anything can be done retroactively in terms of accommodations as that is 

not how the process works." CP 356 

Sometime after the March 4 meeting and before March 12, Dobrich 

talked to Callahan about Ms. Hartleben's disability accommodation request. 

They discussed how they did not believe Ms. Hartleben's request not to pay 

tuition twice for classes is a reasonable accommodation. CP 157-160~~11, 13-

15; 260:19-23; 261:3-13 

After several days Ms. Hartleben had heard nothing more from DRS. 

She then called and emailed DRS primarily to be sure Dobrich had received the 

medical documentation of her disability. CP 15 8 ~ 12, 177-17 8 

Dobrich fired back an email commenting on Ms. Hartleben's "distress 

over the time it takes to clarify things ... [T]hat cannot happen instantly. Please 

remember that you asked me to connect directly with those people who might be 
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able to add clarification to the picture as you did not want to make any more of 

these contacts yourself. .. The documentation did come in ... on Friday but I do not 

work on Friday so obviously, I did not see it." CP 176-177 Dobrich later

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