I. INTRODUCTION 

A place of public accommodation complies with the 

Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) by providing the 

disabled and non-disabled the same opportunity to enjoy its services. 

Here, respondent University of Washington did that by offering 

appellant Stacia Hartleben additional time to complete her degree 

program and allowing her to do so with a reduced course load. These 

offers satisfied the University's duty to accommodate Hartleben's 

amnesia; the University did not unlawfully discriminate against 

Hartleben by asking that she pay tuition for any classes in which she 

re-enrolled, a condition of enrollment it applies to the disabled and 

non-disabled alike. 

Hartleben's insistence that the University waive the fee 

normally charged for services stretches the WLAD beyond its 

intended purpose. The WLAD is meant to fight discrimination, not 

require covered entities to insure their customers by assuming all 

financial responsibility for any losses caused by a newly incurred 

disability. This Court should affirm the trial court's summary 

judgment order dismissing Hartleben's WLAD claim. 
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II. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES 

1. Does a university comply with the WLAD, which 

precludes requiring any disabled "person to pay a larger sum than 

the uniform rates charged other persons," RCW 49.60.215, by 

offering a student with amnesia accommodations (e.g., extended 

time to complete her degree program) that give her the same 

opportunity to enjoy the service the university offers everyone - 

enrollment in classes in exchange for tuition? 

2. Does the WLAD's requirement of "reasonable 

accommodation" require a university to "financially accommodate" 

a person by waiving tuition when a newly incurred disability 

undermines the value of classes provided by the university when that 

disability did not exist? 

3. Does a waiver of tuition to accommodate a student 

whose disability allegedly diminishes the value of classes previously 

taken fundamentally alter the nature of the service a university 

provides to the public? 

4. If a university's refusal to waive tuition was the result 

of its uniform requirement that all students pay tuition, does a 

discrimination claim fail as a matter of law for lack of evidence the 
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plaintiff's disability was a "substantial factor" motivating the 

university's decision? 

III. RESTATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The University granted Hartleben's requests to 
withdraw from classes so she could treat her 
depression. 

Stacia Hartleben enrolled in the University's Computational 

Linguistics Master's Program in 2008. (CP 77,105)  She participated 

in the program for two quarters, paying tuition for each class she 

took. (CP 105, 501) Hartleben then filed a petition for a hardship 

withdrawal because of her depression. (CP 57, 83, 105) The 

University granted Hartleben's petition and allowed her to withdraw 

from her classes during spring quarter in 2009. (CP 57, 83, 105) The 

University granted two additional hardship withdrawals in January 

and July 2010. (CP 57, 83, 105) In spring 2011, Hartleben went on 

leave for two quarters. (CP 57, 105) 

In November 2011, Hartleben again asked to go on leave to 

seek medical treatment for her depression; the University granted 

the accommodation. (CP 57, 82-83) Hartleben then received 

electroshock therapy in December 2011. (CP 78, 85-86) As a side 

effect of the therapy, Hartleben lost memories from roughly 2007-

08 to December 2011, including her memory of five completed 
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courses in the linguistics program. (CP 77-78, 155) She has no 

memory loss after the therapy and did not suffer any other side 

effects from the therapy. (CP 78, 118) 

In February 2012, Hartleben emailed a professor in the 

Department of Linguistics, Dr. Emily Bender, seeking leave for 

winter quarter and explaining that her doctor believed her memory 

would return within six months. (CP 57, 60) Dr. Bender approved 

Hartleben's leave requests for winter and spring quarter. (CP 57) A 

year later, in February 2013, Hartleben emailed Dr. Bender again, 

explaining her memory had not, and would not, return. She 

requested to retake the classes she had forgotten. (CP 58, 62) 

Hartleben told Bender, "paying for tuition would not be an option." 

(CP 58, 62) 

B. 	The University allowed Hartleben to return to her 
master's program and offered her multiple 
accommodations to address her memory loss. 

On March 4, 2013, Hartleben met with Terri Dobrich at the 

University's Disability Resources for Students Office ("DRS") to ask 

that she be allowed to re-enroll in the classes she had forgotten 

without paying tuition. (CP 51, 88-89, 156) During their initial 

meeting, Hartleben refused to discuss other options, insisting the 

University allow her to retake classes at no cost. (CP 51-52) Dobrich 
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explained to Hartleben that she would investigate her request. (CP 

52) 

Dobrich spoke with several University administrators to 

determine whether the University could waive tuition as a disability 

accommodation. (CP 52) Dobrich contacted the Associate Dean of 

the Graduate School, who explained that while the Department of 

Computational Linguistics could accommodate Hartleben by 

welcoming her back and extending the timeframe for completing her 

degree, payment of tuition was necessary to participate in the 

program. (CP 52) The Registrar explained to Dobrich that a student 

could retake a class and receive a new grade, or audit the class. As 

an auditor the student attends lecture but cannot participate in class 

discussions, do homework, or take exams. (CP 52, 259) Both options 

require payment of tuition. (CP 52) 

Dobrich also spoke with two psychologists to better under-

stand electroshock therapy and conducted online research, looking 

at information from experts in disability and higher education, as 

well as accommodations provided by peer institutions. (CP 407-09) 

Bree Callahan, the Director of DRS, also contacted the Americans 

with Disabilities Act Coordinator at the University, who confirmed 

that waiving tuition was not a reasonable accommodation. (CP 50) 

5 



On March 14, 2013, Dobrich again met with Hartleben to 

explore possible accommodations other than waiving tuition. (CP 

52) Dobrich explained that the University would extend the 

timeframe necessary to complete her program, would allow 

Hartleben to take a reduced course load, and that Hartleben could 

retake or audit any classes she had forgotten. (CP 46, 48, 52, 406) 

Hartleben rejected these accommodations, again insisting on a 

tuition waiver. (CP 52) Dobrich also referred Hartleben to the 

Division of Vocational Rehabilitation at the Washington State 

Department of Social and Health Services, which is another resource 

for students seeking accommodations. (CP 52) 

Dobrich continued to explore a tuition waiver for Hartleben. 

(CP 53) After weeks of discussions with the Registrar, Student Fiscal 

Services and other departments at the University, Dobrich emailed 

Hartleben on May 2, 2013, explaining that "enrolling in a course 

requires payment of tuition" and that payment of tuition is required 

whenever a student repeats a course, even for health-related or 

emergency reasons. (CP 53, 55)1 Dobrich did not tell Hartleben that 

. Though students must pay tuition when they retake a class, the 
University refunds a portion of tuition if a student takes a hardship 
withdrawal from that class and submits a timely request. (CP 250-51) 
Hartleben received refunds for her hardship withdrawals. (CP 1.61) 
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she would be barred from re-enrolling in any classes she wanted to 

take. (CP 90) Instead, she told Hartleben the University does not 

allow students to enroll without paying tuition, either directly or 

indirectly through scholarships, grants, financial aid, or another 

source. (CP 53, 55, 90) 

Hartleben concedes the University never discouraged her 

from re-enrolling in any classes after her leave of absence. (CP 90) 

While Dobrich suggested that Hartleben contact the University's 

financial aid office to see if she qualified for financial assistance, 

Hartleben concedes that she did not do so. (CP 53, 55, 98) Moreover, 

although it is undisputed that Dobrich told Hartleben that the 

University would accommodate any disabilities currently impairing 

her ability to learn should Hartleben re-enroll, Hartleben never 

discussed with Dobrich her current claim that she is disabled by the 

inability to focus or concentrate unless she is participating in a group 

setting. (CP 55, 91, 194) 

C. 	After Hartleben sued the University, the trial court 
granted summary judgment for the University, 
holding that the University was not required to waive 
tuition as an "accommodation." 

In May 2013, Hartleben filed a complaint with the University 

Complaint Investigation & Resolution Office (UCIRO) alleging 

disability discrimination. (CP 32, 36-40) Hartleben also filed a 
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complaint with the Office for Civil Rights (OCR) in the U.S. 

Department of Education. (CP 32) Hartleben alleged that Dobrich 

discriminated against her because she did not treat her request to 

take classes at no cost as a request to accommodate a disability and 

denied her request for a tuition waiver without offering any other 

reasonable accommodations. (CP 32-33, 36-40) Hartleben also 

alleged that Dobrich treated her unfairly by being unresponsive and 

communicating in a dismissive manner. (CP 32-33, 43) 

UCIRO Investigator Kate Leonard handled both the UCIRO 

and the OCR complaints. (CP 32) Leonard interviewed five 

witnesses, including Dobrich twice. (CP 33, 203-11) Leonard found 

that Dobrich had offered multiple accommodations that would allow 

Hartleben to return, including modifying the timeframe within 

which her program must be completed and offering a reduced course 

load, in addition to the opportunity to retake or audit any previous 

classes. (CP 33, 42-49, 193-94) 

Leonard met with Hartleben to explain her findings. (CP 33-

34) Leonard offered Hartleben audio recordings of the five classes 

as an additional accommodation (some of which were the actual 

classes Hartleben had taken), but Hartleben rejected that offer. (CP 

33-34, 194, 513-14) Hartleben became agitated when she learned 
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that UCIRO had not found discrimination, and left before Leonard 

could explain her reasoning. (CP 33) 

Hartleben filed this action in King County Superior Court 

under the Washington Law Against Discrimination, RCW 

49.60.030, alleging the University discriminated against her by 

"refusing and failing to provide her with reasonable accommodations 

that would allow her to re-take certain classes." (CP 2) The 

University moved for summary judgment arguing that Hartleben's 

failure to accommodate claim failed as a matter of law because (1) the 

University offered to accommodate Hartleben to obtain the 

education available to non-disabled students, (2) waiving tuition 

requires a fundamental alteration of how the University operates and 

is thus not a reasonable accommodation, and (3) Hartleben had no 

evidence that the University's actions were the result of 

discriminatory animus. (CP 14-29) The Honorable Samuel Chung 

("the trial court") agreed, granting summary judgment on June 26, 

2015. (CP 480-81) Hartleben appeals. (CP 482-83) 
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N. ARGUMENT 

A. Summary judgment is appropriate where 
undisputed facts establish the defendant did not 
discriminate and the plaintiffs sole requested 
accommodation is unreasonable as a matter of law. 

This Court reviews a summary judgment order de novo, 

conducting the same inquiry as the trial court. Christian° u. 

Spokane Cty. Health Dist., 93 Wn. App. 90, 93, 969 P.2d 1078 

(1998), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1032 (1999). Although this Court 

views conflicting evidence in the light most favorable to the non-

prevailing party, it is not free to disregard undisputed evidence 

considered by the court below. RAP 9.12; see Folsom v. Burger King, 

135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) ("An appellate court would 

not be properly accomplishing its charge if the appellate court did 

not examine all the evidence presented to the trial court . . .") 

(emphasis in original). 

Summary judgment dismissal of a failure to accommodate 

claim is appropriate where reasonable minds could only conclude 

that the defendant reasonably accommodated the plaintiff or where 

the plaintiffs requested accommodation is unreasonable as a matter 

of law. Christiano, 93 Wn. App. at 94-95; Snyder v. Med. Seru. Corp. 

of E. Washington, 145 Wn.2d 233, 240-42, 35 P•3d 1158 (2001). 

10 
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Here, no genuine issue of material fact exists and the University was 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. This Court should affirm. 

B. 	Hartleben's discrimination claim fails as a matter of 
law because it is undisputed the University offered 
her the same opportunity to enjoy its services that it 
offers the non-disabled. 

The Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) 

requires places of public accommodation to provide the disabled the 

same opportunity to enjoy the services provided to the non-disabled. 

Hartleben had the same educational opportunity enjoyed by non-

disabled students at the University of Washington because the 

University offered to accommodate Hartleben's disability so that she 

could receive a meaningful education in exchange for tuition. 

Hartleben's WLAD claim fails as a matter of law. 

The WLAD protects "[t]he right to the full enjoyment of any 

of the accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges of any 

place of public resort, accommodation, assemblage, or amusement." 

RCW 49.60.030(1)(b). "'Full enjoyment of includes the right to 

purchase any service . . . offered or sold on, or by, any establishment 

to the public . . . without acts directly or indirectly causing persons 

. . . with any sensory, mental, or physical disability . . . to be treated 

as not welcome, accepted, desired, or solicited." 	RCW 

49.60.040(14). A place of public accommodation cannot, based on a 
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person's disability, engage in acts that result in "any distinction, 

restriction, or discrimination, or the requiring of any person to pay 

a larger sum than the uniform rates charged other persons, or the 

refusing or withholding from any person the admission . . . in any 

place of . . . accommodation." RCW 49.60.215 (emphasis added). 

At its core, this language requires places of public 

accommodation to provide the disabled the same services or, if that 

is not possible, "comparable services" through "reasonable 

accommodations." Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth., 128 Wn.2d 618, 

627-28, 635-36, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996); see also WAC 162-26-060 

("The purposes of the law against discrimination are best achieved 

when disabled persons are treated the same as if they were not 

disabled."); WAC 162-26-080. By its terms the WLAD does not 

require a place of public accommodation to authorize the disabled to 

purchase its services for lesser sums charged to others. RCW 

49.60.215. Nor does the WLAD require a place of public 

accommodation "to offer greater service to disabled people than is 

available to nondisabled people." Fell, 128 Wn.2d at 640 (emphasis 

in original). 

To establish a failure to accommodate claim a plaintiff must 

prove four elements, including that the defendant did not treat the 
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plaintiff comparably with non-disabled individuals and that the 

plaintiffs disability was a substantial factor causing that treatment: 

(i) they have a disability recognized under the statute; 
(2) the defendant's business or establishment is a place 
of public accommodation; (3) they were discriminated 
against by receiving treatment that was not 
comparable to the level of designated services provided 
to individuals without disabilities by or at the place of 
public accommodation; and, (4) the disability was a 
substantial factor causing the discrimination. 

Fell, 128 Wn.2d at 637. "Comparable treatment" is the "touchstone" 

of the statute because without it the WLAD becomes "an entitlement 

statute" without a "principled limit." Fell, 128 Wn.2d at 626, 631. 

Comparable treatment requires giving the disabled and non-

disabled the same opportunity to enjoy services — it does not require 

the same results. Fell, 128 Wn.2d at 631 (WLAD was designed to 

"remove barriers to equal opportunity in our society") (emphasis in 

original); Negron v. Snoqualrnie Valley Hosp., 86 Wn. App. 579, 

586, 936 P.2d 55 (1997) ("A reasonable accommodation . . . is one 

that allows a comparable opportunity") (App. Br. 26); see also 

Alexander v. Choate, 469 U.S. 287, 304,105 S. Ct. 712, 722, 83 L. Ed. 
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2d 661 (1985) (federal Rehabilitation Act "does not, however, 

guarantee the handicapped equal results . . . .").2 

Here, the University offered Hartleben multiple 

accommodations that afforded her the same opportunity to enroll 

and learn in classes as the non-disabled. The University repeatedly 

granted Hartleben's requests for leaves of absence from her program 

(refunding her tuition when it did so) and welcomed her back 

afterwards (which it does not do for students that simply drop-out). 

(CP 52, 57, 83, 105, 161) See Christiano, 93 Wn. App. at 94-95 

(employer accommodated employee as a matter of law by granting

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